DO NOT REMOVE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 21-0484

CYNTHIA D. PAJAK,

Petitioner,



NOV - 8 202

ν.

UNDER ARMOUR, INC., UNDER ARMOUR RETAIL, INC., and BRIAN BOUCHER,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER CYNTHIA D. PAJAK

Robert M. Steptoe, Jr. (W. Va. Bar # 3605) Larry J. Rector (W. Va. Bar # 6418) Amy M. Smith (W. Va. Bar # 6454) Allison B. Williams (W. Va. Bar # 11329) Dylan T. Hughes (W.Va. Bar # 13893) STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC 400 White Oaks Boulevard Bridgeport, WV 26330 (304) 933-8000 amy.smith@steptoe-johnson.com

Counsel for Petitioner Cynthia D. Pajak

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Cynthia D. Pajak submits this brief on a question certified under the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act, W. Va. Code § 51-1A-1, et seq. The United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia has certified the following question regarding construction of the West Virginia Human Rights Act ("WVHRA"), 5-11-1, et seq.:

Whether an entity that does not meet the definition of "employer" in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(d) is nonetheless subject to liability under West Virginia Code § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(a).

This Court should reformulate the certified question and hold affirmatively that Defendants Under Armour, Inc. and Under Armour Retail, Inc. (collectively, "Under Armour") are subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a) regardless of whether Under Armour meets the definition of "employer" in § 5-11-3(d). The WVHRA's declaration of a broad and beneficial policy to protect the citizens of West Virginia, requirement of liberal construction to effectuate its objectives and purposes, and plain language subject Under Armour to liability under § 5-11-9(7). Under its plain terms "person" in § 5-11-3(a) means "one or more individuals, partnerships, associations, organizations, corporations, labor organizations, cooperatives, legal representatives, trustees, trustees in bankruptcy, receivers and other organized groups of persons." Section 5-11-9(7) provides in pertinent part that it shall be unlawful:

- (7) For any person, employer, employment agency, labor organization, owner, real estate broker, real estate salesman or financial institution to:
 - A. Engage in any form of threats or reprisal, or to engage in, or hire, or conspire with others to commit acts or activities of any nature, the purpose of which is to harass, degrade, embarrass or cause physical harm or economic loss or to aid, abet, incite, compel or coerce any person to engage in any of the unlawful discriminatory practices defined in this section;
 - B. Willfully obstruct or prevent any person from complying with the provisions of this article, ... or

C. Engage in any form of reprisal or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices or acts forbidden under this article or because he or she has filed a complaint, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this article.

Although this Court has not determined the precise issue raised in the certified question, the Court has held that the term "person" as defined in § 5-11-3(a) includes both employees and employers and recognized that claims under § 5-11-9(7) may be brought against any "person" as that term is defined in § 5-11-3(a). Thus, the Court has found that a co-employee, a chiropractor employer sued individually and doing business as a chiropractic company, a jail authority and its chief corrections officer, and an insurer were subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as "persons" within the meaning of § 5-11-3(a). The Court recently held that a plaintiff had waived the issue of whether a county commission that did not meet the definition of "employer" under § 5-11-3(d) could still be subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a). Justice Walker opined separately that under the WVHRA's plain terms an entity that does not fit the definition of "employer" may potentially be held liable as a "person" as that term is defined.

Other Courts have held under statutes analogous to the WVHRA that an entity that does not meet the statutory definition of an "employer" may nonetheless be subject to liability for retaliation as a "person" as that term is defined. Those cases have relied on the remedial nature of the statutory schemes, requirement of liberal construction, and plain language.

This Court should likewise reformulate the certified question and affirmatively hold that Under Armour is subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a) regardless of whether Under Armour meets the definition of "employer" in § 5-11-3(d). Alternatively, the Court may hold that the certified question is not determinative and need not be reached because Under Armour employs a sufficient number of persons within the state to be subject to liability as an "employer" within the plain meaning of § 5-11-3(d).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts1

This action stems from the discharge of Ms. Pajak by Under Armour. Ms. Pajak alleges that after she reported inappropriate conduct that created a hostile work environment she was the victim of gender discrimination and a retaliatory discharge. J.A. at 64–91.

In November 2012, Under Armour hired Ms. Pajak as its director of the East and Canada regions. J.A. at 67. Ms. Pajak worked remotely from Bridgeport, West Virginia and reported to Defendant Brian Boucher. In January and April 2018, female employees reported several instances of inappropriate workplace conduct to Ms. Pajak. Such conduct included a district manager taking off his shirt and pretending to do a striptease and posting a photo of himself on Under Armour's internal social media site posing for a body building competition in a speedo, and another district manager making comments about a female colleague's appearance. J.A. at 67–68. Ms. Pajak encouraged these employees to submit written statements, which she then provided to Mr. Boucher. J.A. at 68–69. According to Ms. Pajak, Mr. Boucher minimized the employees' concerns and directed Pajak to "move on." J.A. at 68–70.

On June 12, 2018, Mr. Boucher delivered Ms. Pajak's midyear review, which raised no concerns about her job performance. J.A. at 70. But a mere nine days later, Mr. Boucher, for the first time, raised concerns about Ms. Pajak's job performance and asked her to voluntarily leave her position at Under Armour. Mr. Boucher had not consulted Under Armour's human resources department before approaching Ms. Pajak. J.A. at 70–71. Ms. Pajak declined to leave her position, and, on September 10, 2018, Mr. Boucher placed her on a sixty-day Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP"), although the typical "PIP period" at Under Armour is ninety days. J.A. at 71–72.

In accordance with West Virginia Code § 51-1A-6, the facts are taken from the Memorandum Order and Opinion Granting Motion to Certify Questions to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. J.A. at 340-43, J.A. at 481-84. The District Court took the facts from Ms. Pajak's complaint. J.A. at 340, 481.

Ms. Pajak contends Mr. Boucher provided no guidance in the PIP as to what areas of her performance needed to improve. J.A. at 71. She further alleges that the PIP contained only subjective performance metrics, and that, although Mr. Boucher told her he would meet with her regularly during the PIP period, he did so only once and that was at her request. J.A. at 72.

Ms. Pajak further asserts that the culture at Under Armour created a hostile work environment. During her PIP period, for example, Under Armour's workplace culture attracted national notoriety, prompting Under Armour's CEO to publicly pledge to improve the workplace environment for its employees.² J.A. at 72.

Ms. Pajak, however, contends that Under Armour was never committed to this promise, as evidenced by its failure to respond to inappropriate comments made by a district manager during a conference call, the sole purpose of which was to discuss the media's criticisms of Under Armour's corporate culture. Although Ms. Pajak and other female employees reported their discomfort with the district manager's comments and the company's failure to address them on the call, no action was taken. J.A. at 72. Finally, on December 10, 2018, Mr. Boucher fired Ms. Pajak after her PIP period expired. J.A. at 75.

B. Procedural History

Ms. Pajak filed her original complaint in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia against Under Armour and Mr. Boucher on July 16, 2019. The complaint alleged that Under Armour, Inc. and Under Armour Retail, Inc. are duly formed corporations. The complaint further alleged that Ms. Pajak resides in Bridgeport, West Virginia, that her employment relationship with Defendants arose and occurred in West Virginia, and that many of the acts complained of occurred in West Virginia or through communications in West Virginia. See J.A.

On November 5, 2018, the Wall Street Journal published an article entitled "Under Armour's #METOO Moment: No more Strip Clubs on Company Dime."

at 65-66. The complaint contained four counts, including one count under the WVHRA for violations of § 5-11-9(7). See J.A. at 78.

Thereafter, Under Armour filed a notice of removal to the District Court. See J.A. at 53. Under Armour filed an answer to the complaint. J.A. at 108. In addition, Under Armour filed its motion for partial dismissal of three of Ms. Pajak's claims, including the claim for violations of the WVHRA. Under Armour argued in pertinent part that the WVHRA claim should be dismissed because Ms. Pajak failed to allege that Under Armour satisfied the numerosity requirement to be treated as a statutory employer. J.A. at 141.

Ms. Pajak responded to Under Armour's motion for partial dismissal. Ms. Pajak argued that she adequately pled a claim against Under Armour under § 5-11-9(7), which by its plain terms applies to any "person" as well as an "employer." Because Under Armour is either a "person" as defined in § 5-11-3(a) or an "employer" as defined in § 5-11-3(d), Ms. Pajak argued that Under Armour is subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7). J.A. at 201.

The District Court entered its Order Denying Partial Motion to Dismiss by Under Armour Retail, Inc. and Under Armour, Inc. J.A. at 246. Pursuant to an Amended Scheduling Order, the discovery completion date was scheduled for February 15, 2021, a dispositive motions deadline was scheduled for March 1, 2021, and a jury trial was set to begin on September 20, 2021. J.A. at 247.

Prior to the close of discovery, Under Armour moved to certify the following legal question to this Court: "Whether an 'employer' as defined in West Virginia Section 5-11-3(d) means one who employs twelve or more persons working within the state for twenty or more calendar weeks in the calendar year the discrimination allegedly took place or in the preceding calendar year." J.A. at 260 (emphasis in original).

Ms. Pajak responded in relevant part that that resolution of the proposed certified question was not necessary to the decision in this action because the WVHRA claim is pled under § 5-11-9(7)(C), which prohibits retaliation by an employer or other person, and Under Armour indisputably meets the definition of "person." Ms. Pajak also argued that the District Court should construe the definition of "employer" in accordance with the statutory language, canons of construction, and stated policy in the WVHRA to protect West Virginia citizens without grafting a new term "working." J.A. at 284.

The District Court heard oral argument on Under Armour's motion and on March 5, 2021 entered its Memorandum Order and Opinion Granting Motion to Certify Questions to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. J.A. at 339. The District Court granted Under Armour's motion and initially proposed that the following questions be certified:

- Whether an "employer" as defined in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(d) means one who employs twelve or more persons working within the state for twenty or more calendar weeks in the calendar year the discrimination allegedly took place or in the preceding calendar year?
- Whether a corporate employer is a "person" as defined in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(a), regardless of whether it is also an "employer" as defined in § 5-11-3(d)?

J.A. at 339.3

Subsequently, on June 11, 2021, the District Court entered a Memorandum Order and Opinion Vacating in Part the Court's Prior Order. J.A. at 462. The District Court vacated that part of its prior Memorandum Order and Opinion that certified question one. J.A. at 462–66. The District Court reasoned as follows:

³ On March 8, 2021, the District Court entered an Order Following Motion Hearing, which, among other things, granted Ms. Pajak's motion for leave to amend her complaint to add an intentional spoliation claim against all Defendants, held in abeyance Ms. Pajak's motion for an adverse inference jury instruction, and granted additional discovery limited to Ms. Pajak's intentional spoliation claim. J.A. at 380. Ms. Pajak filed her amended complaint on that same day. The claim for intentional spoliation alleges that Defendants had knowledge of a pending or potential civil action and failed to preserve and willfully destroyed relevant evidence. The allegations pertaining to Ms. Pajak's original claims, including her claim under the WVHRA, remain the same. J.A. at 339.

Per Williamson [v. Greene, 490 S.E.2d 23, 28 (W. Va. 1997)], the Court is not permitted to interpret or construe the WVHRA's definition of an "employer," but instead, must apply the statute as written. The term "employ" means "to make use of' or "to commission and entrust with performance of certain acts or functions." EMPLOY, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). The plain language of the WVHRA thus mandates that an "employer" have at least twelve employees who perform their assigned tasks and responsibilities within the State of West Virginia. In other words, to qualify as an "employer" under the WVHRA an entity must have at least twelve employees actually working within the state.

Undoubtedly, employees working at a brick and mortar location in West Virginia or performing their job responsibilities from a remote workplace located in West Virginia satisfy this requirement. But here, discovery has established that, in the relevant 2017 and 2018 calendar years, although more than twelve Under Armour employees lived in West Virginia, fewer than twelve worked in the State. And, as Williamson and Kalany [v. Campbell, 640 S.E.2d 113 (W. Va. 2006),] teach, West Virginia citizenship alone is insufficient to satisfy the WVHRA's numerosity requirement.

... Therefore, as fewer than twelve Under Armour employees performed their job responsibilities within the State of West Virginia in 2017 and 2018, Under Armour does not meet the numerosity requirement of § 5-11-3(d) and is not an "employer" under the WVHRA.

J.A. at 465.4

On that same day, the District Court entered an Order of Certification to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. J.A. at 473. The District Court certified the following question:

Whether an entity that does not meet the definition of "employer" in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(d) is nonetheless subject to liability under West Virginia Code § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in West Virginia Code § 5-11-3(a)?

J.A. at 473.

⁴ The District Court also entered a Memorandum Order and Opinion Denying Brian Boucher's Motion to Certify Question to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. J.A. at 467.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reformulate the certified question and affirmatively hold that Under Armour is subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a) regardless of whether Under Armour meets the definition of "employer" in § 5-11-3(d). The WVHRA's declaration of a broad and beneficial policy to protect the citizens of West Virginia, requirement of liberal construction to effectuate its objectives and purposes, and plain language subject Under Armour to liability under § 5-11-9(7). Under its plain terms "person" in § 5-11-3(a) means "one or more individuals, partnerships, associations, organizations, corporations, labor organizations, cooperatives, legal representatives, trustees, trustees in bankruptcy, receivers and other organized groups of persons." Section 5-11-9(7) provides in pertinent part that it shall be unlawful:

- (7) For any person, employer, employment agency, labor organization, owner, real estate broker, real estate salesman or financial institution to:
 - A. Engage in any form of threats or reprisal, or to engage in, or hire, or conspire with others to commit acts or activities of any nature, the purpose of which is to harass, degrade, embarrass or cause physical harm or economic loss or to aid, abet, incite, compel or coerce any person to engage in any of the unlawful discriminatory practices defined in this section:
 - B. Willfully obstruct or prevent any person from complying with the provisions of this article, ... or
 - C. Engage in any form of reprisal or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices or acts forbidden under this article or because he or she has filed a complaint, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this article.

Although this Court has not determined the precise issue raised in the certified question, the Court has held that the term "person" as defined in § 5-11-3(a) includes both employees and employers and recognized that claims under § 5-11-9(7) may be brought against any "person" as that term is defined in § 5-11-3(a). Thus, the Court has found that a co-employee, a chiropractor

employer sued individually and doing business as a chiropractic company, a jail authority and its chief corrections officer, and an insurer were subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as "persons" within the meaning of § 5-11-3(a). The Court recently held that a plaintiff had waived the issue of whether a county commission that did not meet the definition of "employer" under § 5-11-3(d) could still be subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a). Justice Walker opined separately that under the WVHRA's plain terms an entity that does not fit the definition of "employer" may potentially be held liable as a "person" as that term is defined.

Other Courts have held under statutes analogous to the WVHRA that an entity that does not meet the statutory definition of an "employer" may nonetheless be subject to liability for retaliation as a "person" as that term is defined. Those cases have relied on the remedial nature of the statutory schemes, requirement of liberal construction, and plain language.

This Court should likewise reformulate the certified question and affirmatively hold that Under Armour is subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7) as a "person" defined in § 5-11-3(a) regardless of whether Under Armour meets the definition of "employer" in § 5-11-3(d). Alternatively, the Court may hold that the certified question is not determinative and need not be reached because Under Armour employs a sufficient number of persons within the state to be subject to liability as an "employer" within the plain meaning of § 5-11-3(d).

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

On September 21, 2021, this Court entered an Order that held that this matter will be scheduled for oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20 during the January 2022 Term of Court. The Court may decide the case by issuing a published decision.

⁵ The term "employer" is defined in § 5-11-3(d) to include "the state, or any political subdivision thereof, and any person employing twelve or more persons within the state for twenty or more calendar weeks in the calendar year in which the act of discrimination allegedly took place or the preceding calendar year." As discussed below, the District Court erroneously grafted the word "working" into the definition of "employer" and held that Under Armour is not an "employer" under § 5-11-3(d).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Decision

West Virginia's Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act, West Virginia Code § 51-1A-1, et seq., provides in relevant part as follows:

The supreme court of appeals of West Virginia may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States . . . if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision, or statute of this state.

W. Va. Code § 51-1A-3.

This Court has consistently held that "[a] de novo standard is applied by this court in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified questions from a federal district or appellate court." Light v. Allstate Ins. Co., 203 W. Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64, Syl. Pt. 1 (1998). See Michael v. Consolidation Coal Co., 241 W. Va. 749, 828 S.E.2d 811, Syl. Pt. 1 (2019) (same); Martinez v. Asplundh Tree Expert Co., 239 W. Va. 612, 803 S.E.2d 582, Syl. Pt. 1 (2017) (same); Leggett v. EQT Prod. Co., 239 W. Va. 264, 800 S.E.2d 850, Syl. Pt. 1 (2017) (same). Accord Bower v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 206 W. Va. 133, 522 S.E.2d 424 (1999) ("This Court undertakes plenary review of legal issues presented by certified question from a federal district or appellate court.").

Moreover, in Kincaid v. Mangum, 189 W. Va. 404, 432 S.E.2d 74 (1993), this Court recognized:

3. When a certified question is not framed so that this Court is able to fully address the law which is involved in the question, then this Court retains the power to reformulate questions certified to it under . . . the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act found in W. Va. Code, 51-1A-1, et seq. and W. Va. Code, 58-5-2 [1967], the statute relating to certified questions from a circuit court of this State to this Court.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 3. See Michael, 828 S.E.2d 811 at Syl. Pt. 2.

- B. Under Armour is Subject to Liability Under § 5-11-9(7) As a "Person" Defined in § 5-11-3(a) Regardless of Whether it Meets the Definition of "Employer" in § 5-11-3(d).
 - The statutory declaration of policy, requirement of liberal construction, and plain language subject Under Armour to liability.

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