## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 21-0484

#### CYNTHIA D. PAJAK

Petitioner,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\bullet}$ 

UNDER ARMOUR, INC., UNDER ARMOUR RETAIL, INC., and BRIAN BOUCHER

Respondents.



Justin M. Harrison, Esq. (WVSB #9255)
Jill E. Hall, Esq. (WVSB #8812)
Grace E. Hurney, Esq. (WVSB # 12751)
Laura A. Hoffman, Esq. (WVSB # 12748)
Jackson Kelly PLLC
500 Lee Street, East, Suite 1600
Post Office Box 553
Charleston, West Virginia 25322
Telephone: (304) 340-1358
Facsimile: (304) 340-1080
justin.harrison@jacksonkelly.com
jill.hall@jacksonkelly.com
grace.hurney@jacksonkelly.com
laura.hoffman@jacksonkelly.com

###

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

Syl. Pt. 8, 490 S.E.2d 23 (emphasis added).

Syllabus Point 8 in *Williamson* is dispositive for two reasons. First, it makes clear that there can be no statutory claim against an employer that does not employ at least twelve persons within the state. *See also Woodall*, 453 S.E.2d at 661 (Holding because Local 596 did not satisfy the numerosity requirement set forth in § 5-11-3(d), the Court held that it "is not liable for unlawful discriminatory acts under the [WVHRA]" in its capacity as an employer). Second, it instructs that plaintiffs whose former employers do not satisfy the definition of "employer" under § 5-11-3(d) can proceed with a common law claim against their former employers. Logically, there is no reason to recognize the availability of a common law claim predicated upon § 5-11-9(7), the same section relied upon by Pajak in her Complaint, if a plaintiff can simply avoid the numerosity requirement of § 5-11-3(d) by arguing that an employer exempt from the Act can, alternatively, be treated as a "person."

Pajak counters that the Court in *Williamson* did not consider whether an employer that does not satisfy the WVHRA definition of employer (because it does not employ twelve or

more persons) could nonetheless be subject to liability as a "person" under the Act. The Court specifically stated, though, that an employer must employ twelve persons to be liable under § 5-11-9(7) of the WVHRA and that, if the employer does not employ at least twelve persons, a plaintiff can assert a common law claim. Syl. Pt. 8, *Williamson*, 490 S.E.2d 23. The Court identified the common law claim as the alternative remedy when an employer has fewer than twelve employees. Such a claim is superfluous if the same result can be achieved by reclassifying an exempt employer as a "person" under the Act. At issue in *Williamson* was § 5-11-9(7)(C) of the WVHRA, the same subsection under which Pajak's claim is made. *See supra* note 6. The holding in *Williamson* applies with equal force to Pajak's claim. She has no statutory claim for retaliatory discharge under § 5-11-9-7(C) because Under Armour employed fewer than twelve persons within the state at the time of the alleged unlawful discriminatory acts, but she may maintain a common law claim for retaliatory discharge in contravention of the public policy articulated in the WVHRA.

Next, this Court's holding in *Kalany* expressly rejected Pajak's argument here that an employer exempt from the Act is nonetheless subject to liability under the Act as a "person." In *Kalany*, the plaintiff-employee prevailed at trial on her common law retaliatory discharge claim. 640 S.E.2d 113. She did not prevail on her statutory claim under the WVHRA because the trial court determined that the employer-defendant—a sole proprietor—did not satisfy the definition of "employer" found in § 5-11-3(d) when it did not employ at least twelve persons within the State of West Virginia. Following the verdict, the plaintiff-employee filed a motion for attorney's fees and costs under the WVHRA. In support of the motion, the plaintiff-employee argued that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pajak makes this claim in both the Complaint and the Amended Complaint at Count 1. J.A. at 77, 371.

employer was a "person" as defined under the WVHRA. The circuit court agreed and awarded fees and costs pursuant to the Act.

On appeal, the Court rejected this approach:

The trial court was acting outside of the statutory authority by the Legislature in making an award of attorney's fees and costs under the Act in connection with a common law claim for retaliatory discharge. Mr. Campbell, as an employer who does not come within the protections of the Act based on the minimal number of employees he hires, cannot be deemed a statutory "person" for purposes of relying on the Act's authority to make an award of fees and costs at the discretion of the trial court.

Id. at 121 (emphasis added). As the Court observed, "[c]learly, the trial court was reaching in trying to bring Mr. Campbell within the parameters of the Act by characterizing him as 'person' subject to the Act's provisions." Id. at 120. Recognizing the Legislature's clear intent to exempt small employers from the reach of the Act, the Court noted that there is a "rational basis for enacting state and federal legislation which addresses prohibited discriminatory conduct in a manner that does not apply to employers whose business interests do not require the use of more than a minimal number of employees." Id. (citing Greenville Women's Clinic v. Bryant, 222 F.3d 157, 174 (4th Cir. 2000)). Importantly, the Court agreed that if the statutory definition of "person" was intended to broadly encompass all individuals, then the separate references to "person" and "employer" set forth in § 5-11-9(7) would be meaningless. Id. at n.13.

Pajak argues the holding in *Kalany* is not instructive here because the plaintiff in that case failed to argue that an employer exempt from liability under the Act is subject to liability as a "person." Petitioner's Brief at 21. Pajak's attempt to limit the holding in *Kalany* is unpersuasive because the plaintiff in *Kalany* made the same argument Pajak makes here. It is inconsequential that the argument was made in the context of a request for attorney's fees when the request was made pursuant to the WVHRA. The Court in *Kalany* takes Under Armour's

argument even further in holding that, just as an employer exempt from the WVHRA cannot be considered a "person" under § 5-11-9(7) for liability purposes, any "attempt to extend the statutory award of fees and costs to common law actions based on the theory that the same underlying public policy rationale that seeks to encourage the prosecution of actions instituted under the Act should also apply to actions brought outside of the Act" is not permitted under the law. 640 S.E.2d at 120.

This does not mean the inclusion of "person" in § 5-11-9(7), and the inclusion of a corporation as a "person" in § 5-11-3(a), are rendered meaningless. Both support the well-settled principle that "persons" other than a former employer (or persons outside the employment relationship) may be held liable for discriminatory acts under the WVHRA. The cases cited by Pajak in her brief confirm this principle. See, e.g., Holstein v. Norandex, Inc., 194 W. Va. 727, 461 S.E.2d 473 (1995). In *Holstein*, the Court's holding is specific and limited: "[W]e find that a cause of action may be maintained by a plaintiff employee as against another employee under the West Virginia Human Rights Act." Id. at 478 (emphasis added). The holding in Holstein simply stands for the proposition that employees are "persons" under the WVHRA; it does not expand the definition of employer or otherwise hold that a former employer that does not satisfy the definition of "employer" can be held liable as a "person." See also St. Peter v. Ampak-Division of Gatewood Products, Inc., 199 W. Va. 365, 484 S.E.2d 481 (1997) (supervisor who engaged in discriminatory acts may be liable under the WVHRA). The Fourth Circuit's decision regarding an earlier version of the WVHRA arrived at a similar conclusion, See Marshall v. Manville Sales Corp., 6 F.3d 229 (4th Cir. 1993) (holding the WVHRA does not limit potential defendants to employers in finding that plaintiff's manager could be found liable for his discriminatory acts as a person).

It is well-settled law that individual supervisors employed by a *covered employer* are subject to liability as persons under § 5-11-9(7) of the Act. Pajak relies on Syllabus Point 3 in

Holstein which states that the Act's definition of "'person' . . . includes both employees and employers" to argue that this Court has considered and accepted the argument that a small employer exempt from the WVHRA is subject to liability as a person under § 5-11-9(7). Syl. Pt. 3, Holstein, 461 S.E.2d 473. Pajak's reliance on the syllabus point is misplaced. In Holstein, the plaintiff-employee sued his former employer and former supervisor for violations of the WVHRA. Specifically, Holstein alleged his former employer violated § 5-11-9(1) of the Act based on age discrimination and alleged his former supervisor violated § 5-11-9(7) by aiding and abetting the employer's unlawful discrimination. The circuit court dismissed the former supervisor, and this Court reversed, holding that a plaintiff-employee can maintain a claim against another employee under § 5-11-9(7).

While Syllabus Point 3 may lend support for Pajak's argument when read in isolation, it is clear that, when read in the context of the case and the definitions found in the WVHRA, the point stands only for the proposition that both employees and their *covered* employers with twelve or more employees can be liable under the WVHRA. The syllabus point merely reflects the definitions found in § 5-11-3 of the Act. "The term 'employer' means . . . any *person* employing twelve or more persons within the state . . . ." W. Va. Code § 5-11-3(d) (emphasis added). Thus, an "employer" is a "person" that employs twelve or more persons within the state. Pajak reads too much into the syllabus point when she argues that the *Holstein* court determined a small employer exempt from the Act is a "person" subject to liability under § 5-11-9(7). The Court did not address whether a small employer that does not satisfy the Act's definition of "employer" is subject to liability under the Act under an alternative definition. That issue was not before the Court. The case merely holds that an individual employee can be liable under the Act as a "person" when he or she aids and abets a covered employer's unlawful discrimination.

Pajak relies further on the following syllabus point in *Hanlon*:

W.Va. Code 5-11-9(7)(C) (1992), prohibits an employer or other person from retaliating against any individual for expressing opposition to a practice that he or she reasonably and in good faith believes violates the provisions of the West Virginia Human Rights Act.

Syl. Pt. 11, 464 S.E.2d 741 (emphasis added). In *Hanlon*, there is no discussion of whether the defendant-employer satisfied the Act's definition of "employer." The Court held that a supervisory employee (who is not an owner of the employer entity) can state a claim against his or her employer for a hostile work environment created by a subordinate employee if the employer knew or should have known of the hostile acts. *Id.* The syllabus point Pajak cites throughout her brief simply recites the statute that prohibits both employers and persons from engaging in retaliation against an employee who expresses opposition to a discriminatory practice. *See* W. Va. Code § 5-11-9(7)(C). The syllabus point actually supports Under Armour's position because it makes clear that a plaintiff-employee's covered employer *or other* person may be liable for retaliation under the Act. The language used in the syllabus point distinguishes between a defendant-employer and *another* person who is not the employer of the plaintiff-employee. In other words, a defendant-employer must satisfy the definition of "employer" under the Act if it is to be subject to liability, but if the defendant-employer does not satisfy the definition, only *another* person outside of the employment relationship may be liable for aiding and abetting discrimination.

Neither is the *Michael* case nor the *Conrad* case helpful to Pajak's position. A corporation may be liable under the WVHRA as a "person," but no case holds that such a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Court quotes the definition of "employer" in the opinion, so it may be presumed that there was no dispute the defendant-employer satisfied the numerosity requirement for employers covered by the Act. See Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W. Va. 99, 107 n.6, 464 S.E.2d 741, 749 n.6 (1995).

corporation can be the same employer that does not satisfy the WVHRA's definition of "employer." Holding otherwise would render the statutory definition of "employer" meaningless. Rather, a corporation may be liable when, for example, a tortfeasor's insurance carrier discriminated against plaintiffs residing in public housing based on their race. See Michael v. Appalachian Heating, LLC, 226 W. Va. 394, 701 S.E.2d 116 (2010). In Michael, this Court answered a certified question regarding whether a plaintiff has a cause of action against a tortfeasor's insurance carrier pursuant to the WVHRA based on discrimination in the settlement of a property damage claim. Id. The Court answered the question in the affirmative based on the plain language of the definition of "person" in W. Va. Code § 5-11-3(a). Id. The case, though, did not involve an employment relationship, and the Court did not hold that a defendant-employer that does not employ at least twelve persons within the state can be liable under the WVHRA as a "person." No employer was even a party to the action, and this was notable in the opinion. Id. at 123-24 ("In the context presented in this case, the insurance company is not functioning as an employer . . . . Thus, [§5-11-9(7)] is applicable to an insurance company only if the insurance company falls within the meaning of the term 'person.").

In *Conrad v. ARA Szabo*, 198 W. Va. 362, 480 S.E.2d 801 (1996), the plaintiff sued his employer, ARA Szabo, for violations of the WVHRA. ARA Szabo provided food services to the Jail Authority where plaintiff worked. The plaintiff also sued the Jail Authority and an individual corrections officer employed by the Jail Authority for violations of the WVHRA. It was undisputed that the Jail Authority was not plaintiff's employer. The circuit court dismissed both the Jail Authority and the individual defendant from the suit. On appeal, the court reversed, holding that the individual defendant was subject to liability as a "person" under § 5-11-9(7) and that the Jail Authority was subject to liability as an "employer" under § 5-11-9(1) because, although it was

not the plaintiff-employee's employer, it satisfied the definition of "employer" under the Act because it is "part of 'the state." *Id.* at 816; *see also* W. Va. Code § 5-11-3(d) ("employer" means "the state").

The Court in *Conrad* held that the individual defendant was subject to liability as a "person" under § 5-11-9(7), but it did not hold that the Jail Authority was subject to liability as a "person." The case stands only for the proposition that an employer may be subject to liability under the WVHRA as an "employer" if it satisfies the definition of "employer" *and* obstructs a plaintiff-employee's employment opportunities, even if the entity does not have an employment relationship with the plaintiff-employee. *Id.* at 816. The holding does not address liability under the Act of a small employer exempt from the Act and is thus not applicable to the question before this Court.

Finally, Pajak's reliance on Justice Walker's opinion in *State ex rel. Grant County Commission v. Nelson*, 244 W. Va. 649, 866 S.E.2d 608 (2021), is not helpful to her cause. In *Nelson*, the plaintiff-employee sued the county commission over her termination from Grant Memorial Hospital. The commission owned the hospital that employed the plaintiff. The circuit court denied the commission's request to dismiss on the basis that it was not plaintiff's employer. This Court disagreed, finding that the commission was not the employer and not a proper defendant under the WVHRA. The majority opinion did not evaluate the WVHRA definitions of "employer" and "person," and there was no analysis of whether the commission could be a "person" under the Act because the majority found that Nelson had waived the issue by not raising it during the appeal. *Id.* at n.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Nelson also alleged claims under the Patient Care Act and the Whistle-Blower law that are not relevant to this matter.

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